Criteria for Price Indexes for Printed Library Materials

Abstract: The purpose of price indexes for print library materials is to measure as accurately as possible on a periodic basis the extent of price changes. A price index is an economic indicator that in systematic fashion for a period of time and at fixed intervals of time (usually annual) provides for the derivation of average prices and citation of changes in terms of index numbers. Price indexes describe the essential characteristics of various forms of library materials (as set forth in the standard) so that the same characteristics are measured periodically. A set of prices indexes is intended to meet administrative needs for budgeting, materials price analysis, and other purposes in libraries and other organizations with similar information needs. Price indexes represent a standard measurement of the market dynamics of a particular publication type (format) rather than reflecting exact pricing for a specific library, publisher, or situation.

An American National Standard Developed by the National Information Standards Organization

Approved August 3, 1999 by the American National Standards Institute

Published by the National Information Standards Organization Bethesda, Maryland



NISO Press, Bethesda, Maryland, U.S.A.

Published by NISO Press 4733 Bethesda Avenue, Suite 300 Bethesda, MD 20814 www.niso.org

Copyright ©1999 by the National Information Standards Organization All rights reserved under International and Pan-American Copyright Conventions. No part of this book may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopy, recording, or any information storage or retrieval system, without prior permission in writing from the publisher. All inquiries should be addressed to NISO Press, 4733 Bethesda Avenue, Suite 300, Bethesda, MD 20814.

Printed in the United States of America

ISSN: 1041-5653 National Information Standard Series

ISBN: 1-880124-46-7

This paper meets the requirements of ANSI/NISO Z39.48-1992 (R 1997) Permanence of Paper.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

National Information Standards Organization (U.S.)

Criteria for price indexes for printed library materials: an American national standard/developed by the National Information Standards Organization.

p. cm. — (National information standards series, ISSN 1041-5653) Includes bibliographical references.

"ANSI/NISO Z39.20-1999".

ISBN 1-880124-46-7

- 1. Acquisitions (Libraries)—Costs—Statistical methods Standards—United States.
- 2. Library materials—Prices—Statistical methods Standards—United States.
- 3. Books—Prices—Statistical methods Standards—United States. 4. Price indexes Standards—United States. I. Title. II. Series.

Z689.5.U6N38 1999 338.4'70705'0973—dc21 99-21579

Contents

Foreword	iv
1. Scope and Purpose	1
1.1 Scope	
1.1.1 Publications Included in the Scope	1
1.1.2 Publications Excluded from the Scope	1
1.2 Purpose	2
2. Definitions	2
3. General Specifications	2
3.1 Definition of Material	
3.2 Time Period	4
3.3 Country of Publication	4
3.4 Subject Classification System	5
3.5 Statement of Prices	5
3.6 Total and Index Populations	5
3.7 Methodology	5
3.8 Price Range Tables	6
4. Specific Guidelines for Selected Library Materials	6
4.1 Price Index for Hardcover Paperback, Trade, and Technical Bool	<s6< td=""></s6<>
4.1.1 Method of Compilation	6
4.2 Price Index for Periodicals	7
4.2.1 Method of Compilation	7
5. Text References	8
	_
6. References for Subject Classification Systems	9

Foreword

(This foreword is not part of the American National Standard Criteria for Price Indexes for Printed Library Materials, ANSI/NISO Z39.20-1999. It is included for information only.)

The first American National Standard for Criteria for Price Indexes for Library Materials ANSI Z39.20-1974 was published in 1974. A revision was issued in 1983 after four years of deliberation over a variety of concerns in the areas of classification and data collection. In 1991, a revision was drafted by Fred C. Lynden, Rockefeller Library, Brown University, acting as Technical Editor, but consensus approval on that revision was not achieved. The current revision committee was established in 1995 to review the standard in light of its primary purpose and use along with those issues that were raised during the previous review process, such as the implications of the increasing number of electronic publications.

Over the years, this standard has become much misunderstood. It is the desire of the current revision committee that the streamlining of the standard's scope and content will serve to alleviate that situation. Contrary to some beliefs, the standard did not in the past, and does not now, provide guidelines for the conduct of price studies based on a particular discipline's literature, i.e., cost studies that attempt to create an equitable comparison across publishers by reducing subscription price to a unit of measure based on cost/page or cost/word or cost/numbers of characters or similar cost measure. The committee wishes to indicate clearly that the standard is a macro-level view of what is happening to the pricing of certain information resources and is not intended to highlight specific publishers or their prices. Further, the committee wishes to emphasize that the prices covered by this standard's indexes should be those set for libraries in the United States and not for members of professional societies or individual purchasers.

This standard's primary purpose has been to provide both a historical and current context so that librarians can make informed budget decisions. For example, the standard can be used when conducting price surveys (versus studies) and projections. Following that frame of reference, it is also apparent that the materials having a major impact on a library's budget are primarily printed books and journals. Thus, this revision of the standard contracts its scope to include hardcover and paperback books, and periodicals, omitting non-print (electronic) materials, microforms, serials services, and newspapers. With the deletion of these materials from the scope of this revised standard, its focus is reflected in a new title emphasizing select print materials. The narrowing scope is not intended to diminish in any way the importance of material types not specifically addressed in the criteria. The intention is to provide basic criteria in broad categories that can be easily extrapolated to other more specific material types without developing a highly detailed standard that would have a short shelf life due to rapid changes in the publishing industry.

Another important departure from the previous standard is the shift from the use of *volume* in the criteria for the compilation of price indexes for books to the use of *title*. The revision committee recognizes that using volume counts in price indexes provides a more accurate measurement of per-unit costs, but the criteria were written using title counts in order to reflect the best common practice in use at this time. Most national indexes are currently derived from vendor-supplied data that report price by title. The consistent use of either title or volume as a unit measure would produce an accurate price index.

(continued)

Librarians who plan to develop local indexes based on their institutional data need to recognize the differences between the use of external data, as represented by published indexes, and those using local data. A published index seeks to represent the overall market dynamic of a segment of publishing, reflecting the general economic movement of prices. The local index usually seeks to develop data that reflect their own institutional cost experiences, including those costs generally excluded from a published index, such as discounts or handling/shipping charges.

The exclusion of non-print media leads to the question of why the revision committee confined the scope of the standard rather than expanding into the area of electronic information products. It was the general sense of the committee that current pricing models in the area of electronic publishing are premature and too much in a state of flux for an index to be able to accurately measure price changes across, or even within, formats. With some publishers charging for electronic journals, and others putting forth products for a year or more at no cost, and still others linking the cost of electronic journals to concurrent purchase of the print versions, the committee believed that to endorse a comparison among such publications would serve neither the library nor the publishing community well.

However, the committee does encourage individual researchers to attempt applications of a price index approach to electronic publications on a local, micro-level versus the broad marketplace, so that some experience can be gained during the period that electronic products are in development and pricing models become measurable. Development of new price indexes based on needs specific to licenses for databases with varying levels of access and prices is encouraged. In anticipation of creating price indexes for electronic products in the future, the results of such investigations would prove invaluable for this standard's next revision process.

Finally, the revision committee wishes to emphasize that the standard defines criteria for an index to publishers' prices and not to any explicit production costs or perceived user value. It is vitally important that investigators applying this standard make the distinction between the strictly quantitative nature of the standard's criteria for indexes and the potential for both quantitative and qualitative approaches in other research efforts.

This standard was processed and approved for submittal to ANSI by the National Information Standards Organization. It was balloted by the NISO Voting Members November 28, 1997 - February 28, 1998. It will next be reviewed in 2004. Suggestions for improving this standard are welcome. They should be sent to the National Information Standards Organization, 4733 Bethesda Avenue, Suite 300, Bethesda, MD 20814. NISO approval of this standard does not necessarily imply that all Voting Members voted for its approval. At the time it approved this standard, NISO had the following Voting Members:

NISO Voting Members

3M Jerry Karel Richard W. Lindahl (Alt)

American Association of Law Libraries Robert L. Oakley Mary Alice Baish

American Chemical Society Robert S. Tannehill, Jr.

American Library Association
Carlen Ruschoff

American Society for Information Science Kurt Kopp

American Society of Indexers Marie Kascus Charlotte Skuster (Alt) NISO Voting Members (continued)

American Theological Library

Association Myron B. Chace

Ameritech Library Services, Academic

Division Patti Pray

Amoco Corporation

Randy R. Reddemann

Armed Forces Medical Library

Diane Zehnpfennig Emily Court (Alt)

Art Libraries Society of North America

David Austin Susan Jurist (Alt)

Association for Information and Image

Management Marilyn Wright

Association of Information and

Dissemination Centers

Bruce H. Kiesel

Association of Jewish Libraries

Pearl Berger David Gilner (Alt)

Association of Research Libraries

Duane E. Webster

Blue Angel Technologies, Inc.

Margaret St. Pierre Jeff Tanara (Alt)

CARL Corporation

Ward Shaw

College Center for Library Automation

J. Richard Madaus Ann Armbrister (Alt)

Data Research Associates, Inc.

Michael J. Mellinger

Data Research Users' Group, Inc.

Beth F. Anderson

EBSCO Information Services

Sandra H. Hurd Melanie Watts (Alt)

Mary Beth Vanderpoorten (Alt)

Elsevier Science Incorporated

John Mancia Norman Paskin (Alt)

The Faxon Company

Alan Nordman

Follett

D. Jeffrey Blumenthal

Gaylord Information Systems

James English William Schickling (Alt)

GCA Research Institute

Norman Scharpf

Geac Computers, Inc.

B.J. Mitchell

Hewlett-Packard Company

Lynne Szabo Eugenie Prime (Alt)

IBM Tryg Ager

Indiana Cooperative Library Services

Authority
Millard Johnson
Dea Szatkowski (Alt)

Information Access Company

Victoria Gray

Innovative Interfaces, Inc.

Gerald M. Kline Sandra Westall (Alt)

Knight-Ridder Information, Inc.

Richard Boulderstone David Loy (Alt)

Lexis/Nexis Peter Ryall

Library Binding Institute

Sally Grauer

Library of Congress

Winston Tabb

Sally H. McCallum (Alt)

Lucent Technologies, Inc.

M.E. Brennan

Medical Library Association

Hope Barton Carla J. Funk (Alt)

Cecelia Boone William DeJohn (Alt)

Music Library Association

Lenore Coral

Geraldine Ostrove (Alt)

National Agricultural Library

Pamela Q. J. Andre Gary K. McCone (Alt)

National Archives and Records

Administration
Alan Calmes

Alan Cairnes

National Federation of Abstracting and Information Services

John Schnepp

National Library of Medicine

Lois Ann Colaianni

OCLC, Inc. Donald J. Muccino

OhioLINK
David Barber

PALINET James E. Rush FOREWORD ANSI/NISO Z39.20-1999

NISO Voting Members (continued)

Readmore Academic Services

Sandra J. Gurshman Amira Aaron (Alt)

The Research Libraries Group, Inc.

Kathy Bales Wayne Davison (Alt)

R. R. Bowker Albert Simmonds

R. R. Donnelley & Sons, Co.

Sidney P. Marland III

SilverPlatter Information Inc.

Bradley McLean Denis Lynch (Alt)

SIRS, Inc. Leonardo Lazo Harry Kaplanian (Alt)

Society for Technical Communication

Connie Bibus Kevin Burns (Alt)

Society of American Archivists

Paul Conway

Special Libraries Association

Marjorie Hlava

SUNY/OCLC

Liz Lane
UMI

Todd Feagan Jim Tumolo (Alt) U.S. Department of the Army,

Headquarters
Paula E. Vincent

U.S. Department of Commerce, National Institute of Standards and Technology, Office of Information Services

Paul Vassallo

U.S. Department of Defense, Defense Technical Information Center

Gretchen A. Schlag Gopalakrishnan Nair (Alt)

U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Scientific and Technical Information

Nancy Hardin

U.S. National Commission on Libraries

and Information Science

Jane Williams

VTLS, Inc. Vinod Chachra

West Publishing Company

Forrest Rhoads

The H.W. Wilson Company

George I. Lewicky Ann Case (Alt)

Winnebago Software

Karen Folstad Carol Blagsvedt (Alt)

NISO Board of Directors

At the time NISO approved this standard, the following individuals served on its Board of Directors:

Joel H Baron, Chair

The New England Journal of Medicine

Michael J. McGill, Immediate Past Chair University of Michigan Medical Center

Donald J. Muccino, Vice Chair/Chair-elect Online Computer Library Center, Inc.

Michael J. Mellinger, Treasurer Data Research Associates, Inc.

Patricia R. Harris, Executive Director National Information Standards Organization

Directors Representing Libraries

Lennie Stovel

The Research Libraries Group, Inc.

Nolan F. Pope

University of Wisconsin - Madison

Beverly P. Lynch

University of California-Los Angeles

Directors Representing Information Services

Vinod Chachra VTLS, Inc. Howard Turtle

West Publishing Company

Directors Representing Publishing

Marjorie Hlava

Access Innovations, Inc.

Brian Green

Book Industry Communication

Albert Simmonds

Reed Referene Publishing

(continued)

ANSI/NISO Z39.20-1999 FOREWORD

The Ad Hoc Working Group on Criteria for Price Indexes for Printed Library Materials had the following members at the time this standard was approved:

Representing Libraries Representing Vendors

Gay Dannelly Adrian Alexander

Ohio State University FAXON

Martha Kyrillidou Leslie Knapp

Association of Research Libraries EBSCO

Mary Case

Association of Research Libraries Representing ALCTS

Steven Bosch

Representing Publishers University of Arizona

Patricia Scarry

University of Chicago Press

Representing NISO

Christopher Schneider Ruth Carter

Gordon and Breach

Liaison to NISO Standards Development Commit-

tee

John Tagler

Flaguier Science Publishers

Barbara Meyers

Elsevier Science Publishers

Meyers Consulting Services, NISO Consultant

The Committee acknowledges the early membership of Ronald Akie, SilverPlatter, Inc., and considered reading by Albert Simmonds, R.R. Bowker, along with special contributions to the first draft revision of the standard by Frederick Lynden, Rockefeller Library, Brown University.

Criteria for Price Indexes for Printed Library Materials

1. Introduction

1.1 Scope

The scope of this standard is limited to printed paper publications and microforms. Other types of near-print or non-print materials are excluded.

1.1.1 Publications Included in the Scope.

This standard relates to the following publications commercially available to libraries in the United States: hardcover trade and technical books, paperback books, and periodicals.

1.1.2 Publications Excluded from the Scope.

The following kinds of publications are excluded from the scope of this standard:

- (1) Publications issued for advertising purposes, provided that the literary or scientific text is subsidiary and that the publications are usually distributed free of charge. Examples of these publications are the following:
 - (a) Trade catalogs, prospectuses, and other types of commercial, industrial, and tourist advertising.
 - (b) Publications describing activities or technical progress in some branch of industry or commerce and drawing attention to the products or services supplied by the publisher.
- (2) Publications belonging to the following categories, when they are considered to be of a transitory character:
 - (a) Timetables, price lists, and telephone directories.
 - (b) Programs of entertainments, exhibitions, fairs, and meetings.
 - (c) Company directives, circulars, and regulations and reports of business firms.
 - (d) Calendars.
- (3) Publications belonging to the following categories in which text is not the important part:
 - (a) Musical works (scores or music books), provided that the music is intended to be more important than the text.

- (b) With the exception of atlases, maps and charts, for example, astronomical charts; hydrographic, geographical, and wall maps; road maps; geological surveys in map form; and topographical plans.
- (4) Nonperiodical government publications.¹
- (5) Primary and secondary school textbooks.2
- (6) Academic theses and dissertations.
- (7) Nonpriced publications.
- (8) Multivolume encyclopedias.
- (9) Newspapers.
- (10) Non-print media, including electronic publications and electronic versions of printed publications.
- (11) Serial services.

1.2 Purpose

This standard is intended to provide criteria for developing price indexes to measure periodic changes in the average list price of these library materials indicated in section 1.1.1.

2. Definitions

The definitions in this section are general terms used in this standard for the formulation of price indexes.

average price. The total of the list prices of all material of a given category for a stated period, divided by the number of titles in the category.

Dewey Decimal Classification (DDC) [7]³. The classification system by Melvil Dewey. First published in 1876, it divides knowledge into ten main classes, with further subdivisions, accompanied by decimal notation.

hardcover book. [5] A nonperiodical printed publication of any length, bound in hard covers. For the purpose of this standard, this definition includes annual serial publications bound in hard covers.

Priced nonperiodical publications (federal, state, and local) should be included in price indexes if they are cataloged by the Library of Congress or Superintendent of Documents. This distinction assumes that priced and catalogued documents are more substantial and will reflect broader pricing trends.

College and university level textbooks are included in the scope of the price indexes for hardcover trade and technical books since the process for developing an index for these materials would be identical.

Numbers in brackets refer to corresponding numbers in section 5, Text References. The listed definitions in section 2 were derived from the corresponding references.

index (sample) population. A finite, manageable subset of a total population whose prices are surveyed to develop an index. The index (sample) population is derived from the total population, using standard, statistically valid, sampling techniques.

Library of Congress Classification (LC) [7]. A classification system developed and used at the Library of Congress, beginning in 1897.

list price. The price at which a publication is made available to the public; the list price is customarily established by the publisher and is the price exclusive of any discount.

looseleaf service. [7] A serial publication that is revised, cumulated, or indexed by means of new or replacement pages inserted in a looseleaf binder and used where the latest versions of information are important, as with legal and scientific materials. Compare with **serial services**.

NLM Classification. A classification system designed at the National Library of Medicine. The system was developed to provide broad subject arrangements based on the use of medical literature by professionals in the field.

nonperiodical publication. A publication published as a whole at one time or at intervals, by volumes, the number of which is generally determined in advance.

paperback book. A nonperiodical publication of any length, bound in soft covers. For the purpose of this standard, this definition includes annual serial publications bound in soft covers.

periodic change. The time span for which price index information is reported, in general on an annual basis.

periodical.⁴ [5] A publication that comprises publications in a continuous series under the same title, published more than once a year over an indefinite period, with individual issues in the series numbered consecutively or with each issue dated.

price index. A method of showing the relative change in the average price of library materials over an interval of time. A price index has a base period of one or more years, and the average price in the base period is assigned the index value of 100; the average prices in succeeding years are divided by the base period average price and multiplied by 100 to yield the price index for each year.⁵ A one-year base period, comparable with the federal price index base period, is preferred.

printed. Reproduction by any multiple production method, whatever it may be.

serial services. [7] A periodical publication that revises, cumulates, abstracts, or indexes information in a specific field on a regular basis by means of new or replacement issues, pages, or cards to provide information otherwise not readily available. Compare with looseleaf services.

Specifying that a periodical is "published more than once a year" excludes annuals, biennials, and some irregular publications. The frequency definition originates from Anglo-American Cataloging Rules available from the American Library Association. Hardcover annuals are included in the national hardcover price indexes, since they are based on the American Books Publishing Record, and annuals, biennials, and similar serials are included in that publication. Paperback annuals would be included in the paperback book price indexes.

title. [5] The designation of a separate bibliographic whole, whether issued in one or several volumes, or other parts. A serial title may be distinguished from other such titles by its unique International Standard Serial Number (ISSN).

total population. The complete set of all possible items that could be measured in an index. Examples: all hardbound books published in the United States in 1998; all periodicals distributed in the United States in a given time frame.

volume. A physical unit contained in one binding or portfolio, hardbound or paperbound.

Universal Decimal Classification (UDC) [7]. A general bibliographic classification system based on the Dewey Decimal Classification, but with much more elaboration of detail and more synthetic features.

3. General Specifications.

For the formulation of price indexes covered in this standard the general specifications given in 3.1 through 3.8 shall be used.

3.1 Definition of Material

Each price index shall contain definition(s) of the material(s) included in the index. The definition(s) shall detail completely the type (e.g., serial, etc.) and physical format of materials included in and excluded from the index; the source of the definition(s); and any reasons for modification of the definition(s).

3.2 Time Period

Each price index shall include a statement specifying the period for price changes to be surveyed. For the sake of comparability with other indexes, the preferred time span for reporting periodic price changes is annual. The use of a 3-year average for the comparative base is acceptable practice. Each price index shall also define the time period of the data, e.g., fiscal year, calendar year, or imprint year. It is essential to use the same time period for all comparisons when constructing a price index, e.g., comparing calendar year to calendar, or fiscal year to fiscal year. It is acceptable to compare annual price changes to multiyear base periods as is the case with the Consumer Price Index. The rationale for the selection of the base period should be provided. Price surveys are generally undertaken to determine changes in current price trends, consequently the period selected for analysis needs to be as current as possible.

3.3 Country of Publication

Each price index shall clearly indicate the country or countries of publication covered in the index. The index shall also state how the country of publication was determined, using, for example, one or a combination of the following: (1) publishers, registered office in the country of the index; (2) volumes sold or distributed in the country of index; (3) first place of publication listed in the indexed material; (4) derivation from a national bibliography. Exclusions or inclusions shall be stated precisely.

3.4 Subject Classification System

When an index is arranged by subject (the preferred arrangement for a national index), the subject classification system shall be identified. The following three subject classification systems are preferred: Dewey Decimal Classification (DDC), Library of Congress (LC), National Library of Medicine (NLM), or the Universal Decimal Classification (UDC) and its twenty-five groups as set forth in the UNESCO recommendations [6] (see section 6, References for Subject Classification Systems). If an index is not arranged by subject, the organization of the index will still need to be described.

3.5 Statement of Prices

Because this standard pertains to materials purchased by United States libraries, all prices shall be stated in U.S. dollars. If prices must be converted from a foreign currency, each price index shall specifically state the methodology used for currency conversion and the methodology must be consistent in its application to the index. It is preferable to convert according to the annual rate of exchange published by the International Monetary Fund. For example, if the currency rate exchange for October is established for the base period, then the exchange rate reported for the month of October in succeeding years is used. For periodical price indexes many libraries prefer to set the time frame for gathering exchange rate data based on when they pay their large renewal invoices.

3.6 Total and Index Populations

Each price index shall describe the total population of the material indexed as well as the index population. The total population is the sum of all possible populations being surveyed, i.e., U.S. periodicals (all periodicals published in the U.S.) or U.S. trade paperbacks (all trade paperbacks published in the U.S.). Where the total population is known, the source of information on its composition and size shall be indicated. Where the total population is unknown, an estimated number shall be indicated. The method for estimating the population should be clearly indicated.

The index or sample population shall also be described in detail. The index population is that finite part of the total population for which price data are actually surveyed to develop the index. Where there is a sizable discrepancy between the total population and the index or sample population, a sample drawn by commonly accepted statistical practices is used. When the sample is selected by other than statistical standards, a detailed description of the methodology for arriving at the sample shall be provided.

3.7 Methodology

Each price index shall indicate in detail the methodology for its compilation including source or sources of the data and, if the data have been changed, updated, or supplemented, how they have been changed, i.e., change in or addition of country, frequency, unit, subject, population, etc.

3.8 Price Range Tables

It is useful to include price range tables by subject. Price range tables describe the complete range of price data contained in the index. When compiling such tables, it is advisable to pay attention to previous price range tables for historical comparability.

4. Specific Guidelines for Selected Library Materials

Each of the indexes in this section shall follow the general specifications stated in section 3.

4.1 Price Index for Hardcover, Paperback, Trade, and Technical Books

(The price indexes for hardcover, paperback, trade and technical books includes university and college textbooks and annual, biennial, and other similar serial publications.)

4.1.1 Method of Compilation

The method of compiling the price index for hardcover, paperback, trade, and technical books shall be as follows:

- (1) The price index should be organized by subject categories, preferably based on the Dewey, LC, NLM, or UDC Classification systems, with modifications determined by the nature of the material and use requirements. Modifications should be noted and explained. It is important, where possible, to separate subject classes that have different publishing characteristics. If the index is not arranged by subject, the organizing principles need to be described.
- (2) In each subject category, the total list price (LP) of the titles for the time period specified shall be divided by the number of titles (T) in each category. The result yields the average price (AP) per title in each category for the time period specified.

$$AP = LP/T$$

(3) Each of the average prices (AP) shall be divided by the average price for the base period (BP) and multiplied by 100, subject category by subject category, to arrive at the price index (PI) for each category.

$$PI = (AP/BP)*100$$

(4) The total list price (TLP) of the titles for the time period specified shall be divided by the number of titles (TT) for the time period specified to arrive at the overall (total) average price (TAP) per title.

$$TAP = TLP/TT$$

(5) This total average price (TAP) for the time period specified shall be divided by total the average price for the base period (TBP) and multiplied by 100 to yield the total price index (TPI) for the time period specified.

$$TPI = (TAP/TBP)*100$$

4.2 Price Index for Periodicals

The price index for periodicals shall be compiled according to the guidelines in this section.

4.2.1 Method of Compilation

The method of compiling the price index for periodicals shall be as follows:

- (1) The price index shall be organized by subject categories, preferably based on the DDC, UDC, NLM, or LC classification systems, with modifications determined by the nature of the material and use requirements. If the index is not arranged by subject, the organizing principles need to be described.
- (2) Each subject category shall include sufficient titles within the total population that can be identified, and for these titles, annual subscription prices to libraries can be determined on a continuing basis to produce a statistically valid sample.
- (3) All additional periodical titles that fit the criteria used to select the index population can be added to the group of titles on which the indexes are based each year, whether the titles are culled from announcements, reviews, library collections, or are otherwise identified.
- (4) The annual subscription price to libraries shall be that published in the first issue of the index year. If no issue is published when the indexes are computed, the last price listed in the previous year shall be used. If no issues can be located, available periodical directories or subscription agency and publisher catalogs/databases shall be consulted or, if feasible, the publishers may be questioned directly. Prices from ephemeral reviews and announcements shall not be used. Titles for which a price cannot be found may be carried forward unchanged for one year, but no such title shall be carried forward for two years. The number of titles carried forward shall be indicated.
- (5) Only the annual subscription price to libraries of each title shall be considered. No adjustment shall be made for changes in scope, frequency, advertising status, or other factors that influence price, since the purpose is to show price per title to libraries, not value received.
- (6) If a title changes in such a way that it no longer meets the criteria that were used to select the index population, or if the annual subscription price to libraries cannot be found for two years, the title shall be withdrawn from the group of titles on which the indexes are based. The criteria for replacement of titles shall appear as part of the price index.
- (7) If a title is issued in independent sections or parts (e.g., A, B., etc.) that are priced both independently and as a set, and a single price is to be selected for the title, use the price of the full set rather than the individual sections.
- (8) In each subject category the total annual subscription price (SP) to libraries of the titles for the year shall be divided by the number of titles (T) in each category to determine the average price (AP).

AP = SP/T

(9) Each of the average prices (AP) shall be divided by the average price for the base period (BP) and multiplied by 100, subject category by subject category, to arrive at the price index (PI) for each category.

PI = (AP/BP)*100

(10) The total annual subscription price (TSP) of the titles shall be divided by the total number of titles (TT) for the year to arrive at the average annual subscription price per title (TASP).

TASP = TSP/TT

(11) The total average subscription price (TASP) for the year shall be divided by the average price for the base period (TBP) and multiplied by 100 to yield the price index for the year (TPI).

TPI = (TASP/TBP)*100

5. Text References

- [1] American Book Publishing Record. New York: R.R. Bowker.
- [2] American Library Association (ALA). Anglo-American Cataloging Rules. North American Text. Prepared by the American Library Association, the Library of Congress, the Library Association, and the Canadian Library Association. Chicago: ALS; 1967.
- [3] Ammer, C and DS Ammer. *Dictionary of Business and Economics*. New York and London: The Free Press; 1977.
- [4] Gorman M, and PW Winkler, eds. *Anglo-American Cataloguing Rules* [prepared by the American Library Association, the British Library, the Canadian Committee on Cataloguing, the Library Association, and the Library of Congress]. 2nd ed. Chicago: American Library Association; 1978.
- [5] National Information Standards Organization (NISO). ANSI/NISO Z39.7-1995, Library Statistics. Bethesda, MD: NISO; 1997.
- [6] United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO). Recommendation Concerning the International Standardization of Statistics Relating to Book Production and Periodicals. General Conference, 13th session; November 19, 1964; Paris. Paris: UNESCO General Conference; 1964.
- [7] Young H, ed, with assistance. *The ALA Glossary of Library and Information Science*. Chicago: American Library Association; 1983.

6. References for Subject Classification Systems

Dewey, Melvil. *Dewey Decimal Classification and Relative Index.* 10th ed. Albany, NY: Forrest Press; 1989.

Library of Congress Subject Headings. 20th ed. Washington, DC: Library of Congress Cataloging Distribution Services; 1997.

National Library of Medicine Classification: A Scheme for the Shelf Arrangement of Library Materials in the Field of Medicine and its Related Sciences. 5th ed. Washington, DC: Superintendent of Documents; 1994.

Principles of the Universal Decimal Classification (UDC) and Rules for its Revision and Publication. The Hague: Federation Internationale de Documentation; 1981.

Scott, ML. *Conversion Tables: LC-Dewey, Dewey-LC.* Englewood, CO: Libraries Unlimited; 1993.